FILED Court of Appeals Division II SUBstate of Washington 8/7/2019 3:08 PM COA NO. 51276-9-11

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/7/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

97521-3

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ROBERT LEATHERMAN, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

Thurston County Cause No. 15-1-00544-1

The Honorable Carol A. Murphy, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICE OF SKYLAR T. BRETT, PLLC P.O. Box 18084 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Robert Leatherman, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Robert Leatherman seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion entered on July 9, 2019. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: A prosecutor commits misconduct by mischaracterizing the law to the jury, by appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice, and by making arguments designed to minimize the state's burden of proof or undermine the presumption of innocence. Did the prosecutor at Mr. Leatherman's trial commit misconduct by encouraging the jury to judge Mr. Leatherman's treatment of his dog based on how the jurors would treat their children and by telling the jury that "before [they] say 'not guilty,' [they] have to ask [themselves], is the doubt that [they] have a reasonable one"?

ISSUE 2: An accused person has a due process right to have the jury instructed on each element of an offense. Does the pattern to-convict instruction for bail jumping (WPIC 120.41) violate due process rights by allowing conviction without proof that the conduct of the accused met the statutory element that s/he had failed to appear in court "as required"?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The state charged Mr. Leatherman with cruelty toward his dog, alleging that he had "starved" the dog by failing to recognize and treat his periodontal disease.

Wolfy was a large dog who was more than fifteen years old. RP 222, 251. Every day he made his "rounds" through the small town of Bucoda, stopping at Joe's Place (the local bar) to get his pepperoni treats. RP 232, 235, 252, 254-55, 271. Everyone in town knew him. RP 252. Other older dogs in town do the same thing, wandering freely for some portion of the day. RP 252.

Everyone in Bucoda called Wolfy the "lion dog" because he lost his hair below the neck in the summer, leaving him with what looked like a lion's mane. RP 226, 231, 251, 263. The hair grew back as the weather cooled. RP 226, 231, 251.

Robert Leatherman took over care of Wolfy around 2009 when his father was no longer able to care for the dog. RP 256.

One day in 2014, Shawna Estrada was passing through Bucoda and encountered Wolfy. RP 53-54. She thought that he looked injured and tried to contact the town's animal control. RP 54. Not getting the response she wanted, Ms. Estrada posted pictures of Wolfy on social media, lambasting the town of Bucoda for failing to care for him properly. RP 58-59, 72, 238.

Around this same time, Wolfy started having seizures. RP 264, 269-70. Mr. Leatherman decided that it was time to put him down. RP 142, 266. One of Mr. Leatherman's friends took Wolfy to a secluded area and shot him in the head. RP 263-64, 266.

Responding to the posts on social media, Sheriff's Deputy

Swanson went to Bucoda and easily found out that Mr. Leatherman was

Wolfy's owner. RP 136-39. Mr. Leatherman told the deputy that Wolfy
had been put down a few days prior. RP 142.

The deputy and an animal control officer went and retrieved Wolfy's body, where it had been laying for two days. RP 136, 142, 145-46. Veterinarian Dr. Victoria Smith performed a necropsy on Wolfy five days later. RP 81.

Based on the findings, the state charged Mr. Leatherman with first degree animal cruelty, alleging that he had starved Wolfy in a manner that caused him substantial unnecessary pain. CP 24.

At trial, Mr. Leatherman presented testimony from several townspeople from Bucoda, including a former police officer, the Bucoda mayor, and a waitress at Joe's Place, all of whom testified that Mr. Leatherman took good care of Wolfy and that Wolfy looked fine as recently as a few days before his death. RP 226, 232-34, 253-54, 264-65. Specifically, witnesses testified that Mr. Leatherman always provided

Wolfy with sufficient water and dog food. RP 254, 267. The mayor also said that Wolfy did not look alarmingly thin or emaciated. RP 239.

The state did not offer the photos that Ms. Estrada had taken of Wolfy – supposedly showing him to be injured – at trial *See* RP *generally*. Instead, the state offered Dr. Smith's testimony regarding her assessment of Wolfy's condition. RP 77-133.

Dr. Smith testified that Wolfy had stage four periodontal disease, which is the most severe of the four stages. RP 86-88. She opined that Wolfy's periodontal disease would have made it painful for him to eat, especially hard dog food. RP 88-89, 91.

Mr. Leatherman's witnesses testified that they did not notice anything unusual about Wolfy's teeth. RP 254, 265. They said that Wolfy had "dog breath," but that it was not any worse than other geriatric dogs they had met. RP 254, 265.

The state's theory in closing was that Mr. Leatherman had "starved" Wolfy not by neglecting to feed him, but by failing to treat his periodontal disease, which made it too painful for Wolfy to eat his kibble. *See* RP 315-16, 350.

The prosecutor made lengthy arguments comparing a reasonable person's care for a dog with a reasonable person's care for him/herself or for a human child:

Let's talk about what a reasonable person would do. Reasonable person would brush their teeth. Reasonable person would make sure, if they have kids, they would brush their kid's teeth, if their kid couldn't do it themselves. Reasonable person would make sure they would eat. Reasonable person would make sure, if they had kids, their kids were eating. RP 345-46.

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, can you imagine if you had a kid. You can say all day long, I love my kid. I would do everything I possibly can for my kid. I put food out on the table for my kid, but if your kid had periodontal disease in their teeth, if your kid had so many unhealthy teeth conditions that it was making it difficult for your kid to eat, then I submit to you the fact that you say, I love my kid, and the fact that you put food out for your kid but the fact you don't do anything else for your kid, don't brush your kid's teeth, don't take your kid to the doctor to make sure your kid is healthy, don't solve the problems thats (sic) causing your kid to starve, that still makes you a neglectful parent, and this is the same situation.

When explaining the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard to the jury, the prosecutor claimed that it posed hurdle that the jurors had to overcome before they could *acquit* Mr. Leatherman:

RP 354.

What does [reasonable doubt] mean? In a nutshell, it means when you go back and you deliberate and you say, well, I have a doubt in this case. Before you say 'not guilty,' you have to ask yourself, is the doubt that you have a reasonable one? If the answer is, no, it's not reasonable, then that's not a reasonable doubt. RP 326-27.

The jury found Mr. Leatherman guilty of the animal cruelty charge. RP 371.

B. The jury also found Mr. Leatherman guilty of one count of bail jumping.

Mr. Leatherman was not in the relevant courtroom during the first pretrial hearing in his case. RP 206-08. As a result. The state added a charge of bail jumping, which was also submitted to the jury at his trial. CP 24.

As evidence of the charge, the state called two deputy prosecutors as witnesses. The prosecutor who was present when Mr. Leatherman allegedly failed to appear had no independent recollection of Mr. Leatherman's case. RP 213. There was no evidence regarding whether Mr. Leatherman was in some other area of the courthouse at the time of the hearing. *See* RP *generally*. In fact, the state's exhibits clarify neither which courtroom he was supposed to appear in nor which courtroom he was determined to be absent from at the appointed time. *See* Ex. 49-51; *See also* RP *generally*.

The court used the pattern to-convict instruction for the bail jumping charge, which listed the elements of that offense as follows:

- (1) That on or about June 4, 2015, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with Animal Cruelty in the First Degree;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and

(4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington. CP 45; WPIC 120.41.

The jury also convicted Mr. Leatherman of the bail jumping charge. RP 371.

Mr. Leatherman timely appealed. CP 67. The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Leatherman's convictions. *See* Opinion.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Leatherman of a fair trial. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).
 - 1. The prosecutor misstated the law and improperly appealed to the jury's passion and prejudice by encouraging conviction of Mr. Leatherman if the jury found that he had not cared for his dog the way that the jury would have cared for a human child.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by misstating the law to the jury during closing argument. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 373, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). A prosecutor also may not make arguments that are designed to inflame the jury's passion and prejudice. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704...

7

¹ Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704.

First degree animal cruelty requires proof of criminal negligence.

RCW 16.52.205(2). Whether a person has acted with criminal negligence is completely circumstance-specific:

A person is criminally negligent or acts with criminal negligence when he or she fails to be aware of a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur and his or her failure to be aware of such substantial risk constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.

RCW 9A.08.010(1)(d).

In the context of animal cruelty, the jury must determine whether the accused has acted with criminal negligence based on its assessment of how a reasonable person would act toward the same animal in the same circumstances. RCW 16.52.205(2); RCW 9A.08.010(1)(d).

But the prosecutor argued that the jury should consider the standard of care that a reasonable person would exercise toward another *human*:

Reasonable person would brush their teeth. Reasonable person would make sure, if they have kids, they would brush their kid's teeth, if their kid couldn't do it themselves. Reasonable person would make sure they would eat. Reasonable person would make sure, if they had kids, their kids were eating. RP 345-46.

You can say all day long... I put food out on the table for my kid, but if your kid had periodontal disease in their teeth, if your kid had so many unhealthy teeth conditions that it was making it difficult for your kid to eat, then I submit to you the fact that you say, I love my kid, and the fact that you put food out for your kid but the fact you don't do anything else for your kid, don't brush

your kid's teeth, don't take your kid to the doctor to make sure your kid is healthy, don't solve the problems thats (sic) causing your kid to starve, that still makes you a neglectful parent, and this is the same situation.

RP 354.

The prosecutor misstated the law by encouraging the jury to judge Mr. Leatherman's conduct toward his dog based on how a reasonable person would treat his/her children. The argument was also designed to inflame the jury's passion and prejudice by conjuring the image of a child who was un-cared-for, or unable to eat. The prosecutor's arguments were improper. *Allen*, 182 Wn.2d at 373; *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704.

There is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the verdict in Mr. Leatherman's case. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. No witness testified regarding the standard of care for brushing a dog's teeth. *See* RP *generally*. But it is common knowledge that reasonable people brush their children's teeth daily. There was also contradictory evidence regarding whether a reasonable person would have recognized Wolfy's periodontal disease. Dr. Smith opined that the disease would have been apparent from Wolfy's breath. RP 129. But other lay people who came into contact with Wolfy did not notice his breath to be unusual. RP 254, 265. In this murky evidentiary landscape, the prosecutor's arguments relying on reasonable care for a child encouraged the jury to find Mr. Leatherman guilty even if they were not convinced

beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable dog-owner would have known that Wolfy's teeth needed attention. Mr. Leatherman was prejudiced by the prosecutor's improper arguments. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals agreed that the prosecutor's arguments comparing care for a dog with care for a human child were improper.

Opinion, pp. 15-16. But the court held, nonetheless, that reversal was not required because Mr. Leatherman did not object to the argument below.

Opinion, p. 16.

Even absent objection at trial, however, reversal is required when prosecutorial misconduct is "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704.

Misconduct is flagrant and ill-intentioned when it violates professional standards and case law that were available to the prosecutor at the time of the improper statement. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 707. Here, the prosecutor had access to longstanding case law prohibiting appeals to the jury's emotion, passion, and prejudice. *Id.* The prosecutor also had access to the proper definition of criminal negligence. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(d).

Arguments with an "inflammatory effect on the jury" are also generally not curable by an instruction. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533,

552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Here, the Court of Appeals agreed that the prosecutor's argument at Mr. Leatherman's trial:

... had the potential to inflame the jury's passion and prejudice because the idea of a child experiencing the same kind of disease and injury that Wolfy did would have been highly distressing, even more so than the idea of an elderly dog experiencing it. Opinion, p. 16.

The prosecutor's misstatement of the law and appeal to the jury's emotions was flagrant and ill-intentioned. *Id.* Reversal is required despite the lack of an objection below. *Id.* The Court of Appeals should have reversed Mr. Leatherman's convictions *Id.*

2. The prosecutor committed misconduct by making arguments designed to undermine the presumption of Mr. Leatherman's innocence and to improperly shift the burden of proof.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by minimizing the state's burden of proof to the jury. *State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 685-86, 243 P.3d 936 (2010) *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1013, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011). A prosecutor's misstatement of the state's burden of proof during argument to the jury "constitutes great prejudice because it reduces the state's burden and undermines a defendant's due process rights." *Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. at 685-86.

A prosecutor also commits misconduct by making arguments designed to undermine the presumption of innocence. *Id.; State v. Evans*, 163 Wn. App. 635, 643–44, 260 P.3d 934 (2011); *State v. Anderson*, 153

Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009); *State v. Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. 507, 523, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). That presumption persists throughout the proceeding and is only overcome if the state presents sufficient proof. *Evans*, 163 Wn. App. at 643.

The presumption of innocence and the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard work in tandem to create a hurdle which must be overcome by the state's evidence; not one which must be overcome by doubt in that evidence.

But the prosecutor at Mr. Leatherman's trial argued the opposite. The prosecutor told the jury that: "Before you say 'not guilty,' you have to ask yourself, is the doubt that you have a reasonable one? If the answer is, no, it's not reasonable, then that's not a reasonable doubt." RP 327.

In short, the prosecutor argued that the jury should presume that Mr. Leatherman *was guilty* and acquit him only if it had been provided with reasonable doubt. RP 326-27. The prosecutor's argument mischaracterized the state's burden of proof and undermined the presumption of Mr. Leatherman's innocence.² *Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. at 685-86; *Evans*, 163 Wn. App. at 643–44.

to eat. At the same time, based on the prosecutor's description of the state's burden, the

² Mr. Leatherman was prejudiced by the prosecutor's improper argument. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The state's theory of "starvation" was somewhat tenuous. A reasonable jury could have concluded that the state had failed to prove that a reasonable person would have recognized that Wolfy's periodontal disease was making it difficult for him

Even so, the Court of Appeals held that the argument was not improper because it was accompanied by an accurate definition of "reasonable doubt" and did not create an articulation requirement.

Opinion, pp. 13-15. This holding overlooks the fact that the argument, nonetheless, undermined the state's burden of proof and the presumption of innocence by implying, instead, that the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard presented a hurdle that had to be overcome by *the defense*, rather than by the state. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is unavailing.

The prosecutor committed misconduct by making an argument designed to undermine the state's burden of proof and the presumption of Mr. Leatherman's innocence. *Id.* The Court of Appeals should have reversed Mr. Leatherman's convictions. *Id.*

This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

jury could have thought that it was required to convict unless it had a reasonable explanation as to why it would have been unrecognizable. There is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the outcome of Mr. Leatherman's trial. *Id.*

The prosecutor at Mr. Leatherman's trial had access to long-standing caselaw prohibiting a arguments undermining the state's burden or the presumption of innocence. *See e.g. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. at 685-86; *Evans*, 163 Wn. App. at 643–44; *Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. at 431; *Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. at 523. A prosecutorial argument improperly minimizing the state's burden of proof also cannot be cured by an instruction. *Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. at 685 (*citing Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. at 523 n. 16). The prosecutor's improper arguments at Mr. Leatherman's trial were flagrant and ill-intentioned. *Id.*

- B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the pattern to-convict jury instruction for bail jumping violates due process by relieving the state of its burden to prove each element of the charge. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).
 - 1. The court's to-convict instruction failed to inform the jury of the requirement that the state prove that Mr. Leatherman had failed to appear "as required" in order to convict him of the bail jumping charge.

To convict for bail jumping, the state must prove both a requirement of subsequent personal appearance and that the accused failed to appear "as required." *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 184, 170 P.3d 30 (2007); RCW 9A.76.170(1). Absent such a showing, the jury could convict for activity that is not illegal: such as missing a non-mandatory hearing or simply failing to be in the courthouse on a random day on which no hearing is held.

The pattern to-convict instruction for bail jumping, used in Mr. Leatherman's case, did not tell the jury that it had to find he had failed to appear "as required." CP 45; WPIC 120.41. Rather, it required proof only that Mr. Leatherman "failed to appear before a court" on a specified date. CP 45. WPIC 120.41 violates due process by relieving the state of its burden to prove an element of the offense of bail jumping.

A trial court's failure to instruct the jury as to every element of the crime charged violates due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *State v*.

Aumick, 126 Wn.2d 422, 429, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). A "to convict" instruction must contain all the elements of the crime, because it serves as a "yardstick" by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence. *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 31, 93 P.3d 133 (2004).

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