FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/4/2019 1:15 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97521-3 COA No. 51276-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

ROBERT LEATHERMAN,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge Cause No. 15-1-00544-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

caused him extreme pain for at least six months prior to his death. RP 109. He also had old untreated gunshot wounds. RP 121.

Wolfy's periodontal disease was stage four, it would have taken years to develop and he suffered from multiple fractured teeth as well. RP 88, 93. Dr. Smith testified that consuming hard food would have been very difficult for him due to the extreme pain. RP 91. Hair was also found wrapped around Wolfy's teeth which exacerbated his suffering when he attempted to eat. RP 88-89. Dr. Smith testified that the hair wrapped around his teeth was evidence of chronic chewing of the skin which indicates the animal was in pain from another untreated condition RP 90. She indicated that Wolfy attempting to eat with the embedded hair in his gum line would be similar to a human attempting to eat with barbwire in their mouth. RP 88-89.

There was no evidence that any of his conditions had ever been treated. RP 108. Dr. Smith further indicated that all of Wolfy's conditions were in fact treatable. RP 92, 102, 107-108, 112-113. She also testified that periodontal disease is often identified by lay pet owners. RP 126. Wolfy also had wounds that were infested with maggots. RP 98. She testified that maggot infestation was unlikely to occur post death. RP 99.

She was unable to determine if Wolfy actually suffered from seizures because his brain was not intact due to the gunshot. RP 108-109. She did, however, indicate that end stage starvation can cause seizures. RP 110-111. Furthermore, Dr. Smith testified that in the 24-48 hours preceding his death, Wolfy had consumed no dog food, RP 103, 105, and that the only items in his digestive tracks were rocks, hair, and corn. RP 103. She further testified that dogs do not typically eat rocks unless they are starving, RP 104, and that Wolfy most likely scavenged for the corn because it is not a normal diet for a dog. RP 105.

Additionally, evidence showed that Wolfy had been losing weight for such a long period of time that there was little pericardial fat around his heart. RP 106. Dr. Smith testified that Wolfy had undergone extreme loss of muscle, subcutaneous fat, and internal fat. RP 83. She indicated this all would have taken a long time to occur. RP 90-92, 106.

The defense offered testimony at trial from associates of Leatherman that in their personal opinion Wolfy was well cared for. RP 226, 232, 253, 264. The testimony was that individuals saw food in a bowl left out for Wolfy. RP 254, 267. Further testimony showed that the food was hard kibble. RP 258. No testimony was

offered at trial that the witnesses had seen Wolfy actually *consume* the food. See RP *generally*. For the year proceeding Wolfy's death Leatherman did not live with him and he spent the majority of his time wandering around town alone. RP 271.

Thurston County Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Mark Thompson testified that a bench warrant was issued for Leatherman after a polling of the courtroom by Judge Dixon on June 4, 2015, revealed he failed to appear for a required hearing on that date. RP 207-209. The jury was given instructions after the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the trial. The court's to convict instruction on bail jumping stated the elements as follows:

- (1) That on or about June 4, 2015, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with Animal Cruelty in the First Degree;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 45.

After, the instructions were read to the jury, counsel offered their closing arguments. The State attempted to explain the concept of reasonable doubt to the jury during closing.

When you go back and deliberate, you will be given the definition of the term "reasonable doubt." And what a reasonable doubt means, it's a very circuitous definition, "it's one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence." What does that mean? In a nutshell, it means when you go back and you deliberate and you say, "well, I have a doubt in this case." Before you say "not guilty," you have to ask yourself, is the doubt that you have a reasonable one? If the answer is, "no", it's not reasonable, then that's not reasonable doubt.

RP 326-327.

During defense's closing argument counsel opined that Leatherman's love for Wolfy should impact the jury's decision. "[B]ut it is relevant as to maybe the state of mind. Would that state of mind of somebody who felt that strongly about a dog engage in the type of criminal negligence as alluded to by the state?" RP 331. In rebuttal argument the State replied.

You can say all day long, I love my kid ... [B]ut the fact you don't do anything else for your kid, don't brush your kid's teeth, don't take your kid to the doctor to make sure your kid is healthy, don't solve the problems that's causing your kid to starve, that still makes you a neglectful parent, and this is the

same situation ... No one is saying that Mr. Leatherman doesn't love his dog. There has been no testimony to that ... You can love a dog ... but he was still neglectful, for whatever reason.

RP at 354-355.

Leatherman was subsequently found guilty by the jury on all

charges. RP 371.

C. <u>ARGUMENT.</u>

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only if the petitioner demonstrates that review is appropriate under the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Leatherman agues two of those, RAP 13.4(b)(3) and 13.4(b)(4), which provide:

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case was based on existing precedent, and Leatherman fails to demonstrate that review by this Court is appropriate.

> 1. <u>The Court of Appeals applied well settled case law in</u> deciding the allegations of prosecutorial misconduct.

A defendant who claims prosecutorial misconduct must first

establish the misconduct, and then its prejudicial effect. State v.

<u>Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003) (citing to <u>State</u> <u>v. Pirtle</u>, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)); <u>State v.</u> <u>Emery</u>, 174 Wn. 2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). A reviewing court examines allegedly improper arguments in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the instructions given the jury, and the evidence addressed in the argument. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). To establish prejudice, the appellant must show that the improper comments had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

A defendant's failure to object to improper arguments constitutes a waiver unless the statements are "so flagrant and illintentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction to the jury." <u>Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 578. The absence of an objection by defense counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." <u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

For claims of improper burden shifting, that were not raised at trial, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the conduct

was both improper and that it was prejudicial. <u>Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 757-760. There, this Court held that the "constitutional harmless error standard" does not apply to claims of prosecutorial misconduct through improper burden shifting and the traditional test for misconduct applies. <u>Id.</u> In that case, during closing arguments the prosecutor told the jury that in order to find the defendant not guilty the jury must "fill in the blank" of what the reasonable doubt is they are basing their acquittal on. <u>Id.</u> at 759. The Court held that the argument properly described reasonable doubt as a "doubt for which a reason exists" but was improper because the defendant bears no burden. <u>Id.</u> at 759-760. However, this Court held the the defendants did not meet their burden of proving flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. <u>Id.</u> at 763-764.

If the defendant did not object at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and illintentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) "no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect jury" on the and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 455.

Id. at 760-761.

In <u>Emery</u>, this Court held that the prosecutor's improper burden shifting argument was not flagrant or ill-intentioned because they were not the kind of comments held in earlier precedent to have an "inflammatory effect." <u>Id.</u> at 762-763. The Court of Appeals correctly applied that precedent, distinguishing the comments of the prosecutor in this case from those in <u>Emery. Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 15.

The decision was correct and based on precedent settled by this Court. The statement of the prosecutor did not amount to the level of burden shifting seen in <u>Emery</u>, the prosecutor did not say that the jury had to fill in the blank with an articulable reasonable doubt; instead she reiterated that if the jury found a doubt as to Leatherman's guilt, it had to be reasonable to be a reasonable doubt. The statement did not shift the burden of proof. Review is unnecessary.

With regard to the claim of prosecutorial misconduct involving comparing Wolfy to a human child, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the statement was not so flagrant or illintentioned that it could not have been cured with a proper instruction. A prosecutor has wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence and is entitled to fairly respond to

defense counsel's argument and criticisms of the State's case. <u>State v.Thorgerson</u>, 172 Wn.2d 438, 448, 449-50, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Even if a rebuttal argument is found improper, a prosecutor's remarks are not grounds for reversal when invited or provoked by defense counsel unless they were not a pertinent reply or were so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

After defense counsel argued that Leatherman's affection for Wolfy made it unlikely that Leatherman would commit the offense, the prosecutor made comments about what a reasonable person would do if they had children and argued that saying that you love a child does not mean you are not neglectful if you let them starve. RP 329, 345-346, 354. The Court of Appeals found the prosecutor's comparison between the care a reasonable person would give a child and the care Leatherman gave Wolfy was improper. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 16. However, "Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request." <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 85.

The state was simply showing that emotional affection does not constitute a lack of neglect and that you can love an entity and

still neglect them. The prosecutor further clarified the argument by stating

No one is saying that Mr. Leatherman doesn't love his dog. There has been no testimony to that ... You can love a dog ... but he was still neglectful, for whatever reason.

RP at 354-355. This statement was invited by counsel's assertion that someone who loves an entity cannot commit criminal negligence against them. The prosecutor's argument was clearly not flagrant or ill-intentioned and the trial court could have cured any prejudice by directing the jury to disregard the prosecutor's statement had Leatherman objected. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Leatherman waived his prosecutorial misconduct claim when he did not object to the prosecutor's argument at trial. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u> at 15.

The decision of the Court of Appeals properly applied the precedent set by this Court and Leatherman has not demonstrated that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b).

2. <u>The decision of the Court of Appeals to decline review</u> of Leatherman's challenge to the bail jumping instruction was correct given that the alleged error did not affect a manifest constitutional right and the instruction given included the element of a required subsequent appearance.

The trial court's to convict instruction on bail jumping stated

the elements as follows:

- (1) That on or about June 4, 2015, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with Animal Cruelty in the First Degree;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 45.

Leatherman contended that improperly relieved the State of its burden to prove every element of the offense of bail jumping beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Petition for Review</u> at 14. However, the appellate court held that the defendant's challenge did not involve a manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)(3), and declined to review the jury instruction. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 17. The Court based its decision on a similar case, <u>State v. Hart</u>, 195 Wn. App. 449, 381 P.3d 142 (2016), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1011. There, the Court held that the to-convict instruction did include the element of a required subsequent appearance. <u>Id</u>. at 456. The court stated:

[T]he trial court's bail jumping to-convict instruction, which mirrors the to-convict instruction in 11A Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 120.41 at 517 (3d ed. 2008), required the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Hart "had been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court." CP at 58 (emphasis added). Accordingly, the trial court's to-convict instruction included the element of a required subsequent appearance and, thus, we reject Hart's challenge to the instruction.

<u>Id.</u>

Here, the relevant portion of the instruction is identical to the one at issue in <u>Hart.</u> CP 45. Hence the court's previous conclusion in <u>Hart</u> applies and the appellate court correctly found that the instruction on Bail Jumping properly instructed the jury on the elements necessary to convict.

Leatherman contends, however, that <u>Hart</u> was incorrectly decided because it "conflates two elements of bail jumping." <u>Petition for Review</u> at 18. However, Leatherman's argument that knowledge of a required hearing is inherently different than the accused failing to appear in court "as required" is unpersuasive. The language included in the instruction "with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance" inherently includes the element of a "required subsequent appearance." <u>Hart</u>

at 456. Proving the former necessarily proves the latter. Thus, the jury was instructed as to all of the necessary elements of the crime of bail jumping.

There was no constitutional error and the structure of the jury instruction caused no practical and identifiable adverse consequence in the trial. Therefore, there is no reason that this Court should accept review. The issue raised by Leatherman does not raise a significant question of constitutional law or involve issues of substantial public interests that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

D. <u>CONCLUSION.</u>

Leatherman has failed to demonstrate that review of the decision of the Court of Appeals is necessary pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). As such, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of September, 2019.

Joseph J.A. Jackson, WSBA #37306 Attorney for Respondent